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Introduction


The failed British military campaign to overthrow the Russian Bolsheviks (later known as Soviets) which commenced in the late stages of the First World War (1914-18) and continued long after the Armistice remains one of the least known in modern history. The fact that a small number of Anzacs were involved even less so.


The British ultimately failed in their attempt to aid supporters of the old Tsarist order ‘White Russians’ to defeat the revolutionary Bolshevik ‘Reds’ and withdrew from North Russia in October 1919. The Red Army triumphed, bringing the country under communist rule which continued until the collapse of the Soviet Union in the early 1990s.


In this book, Part I: Australia’s Forgotten War recounts in detail the story of the Anzacs who fought in Russia and of the two Victoria Crosses which were awarded, including the posthumous decoration to Sergeant Samuel Pearse VC MM, who was buried on the battlefield, his grave later lost to time.


Samuel Pearse was not alone; the British left behind the remains of several hundred British and Empire war dead, including other Australians, the location of the graves of approximately half of which are now unknown. A century later, a team of Russian battlefield archaeologists uncovered an unmarked grave and an astonishing clue which may resolve the mystery of the lost grave of Samuel Pearse.


In Part II: Anzacs After Russia – Lost and Found, I explore the incredible story of Samuel’s widow Kitty and posthumous daughter Victoria, and of my personal odyssey with Samuel’s grandson in the hope of locating and identifying the remains of an Australian hero missing for 100 years.


Damien Wright




PART I


Australia’s Forgotten War


… ‘over there’ or ‘in that direction’ …


There was nothing to distinguish ‘White’ from the ‘Red’ as far as we could see … Everything was different from what we had been accustomed to on other fronts, where one knew that ‘over there’ or ‘in that direction’ lay the enemy.


Lieutenant Ernest Latchford MC, AIF




1


Cut off from reinforcement and supply


By the outbreak of war in August 1914, Russia was very much a nation stuck in a time warp. Despite the industrial revolution the country remained severely undeveloped. Domestic manufacture could not keep up with the demands of the rapidly mobilising Imperial Russian Army and there were significant shortfalls in arms, equipment and supplies. To assist their Russian ally to fight the Central Powers on the Eastern Front, Britain and France began planning to ship massive quantities of war stores to Russian ports. The objective of the 1915 Gallipoli campaign had been to knock Ottoman Turkey out of the war and open up the Black Sea to allied merchant ships, but when the campaign stagnated and failed, the merchant ships were redirected via the Arctic route to Murmansk and Archangel in northern Russia.


Allied military missions had been sent to Russia as early as 1915 to aid in the distribution of donated war stores and the training and equipping of the Imperial Russian Army. In June 1916, at the request of the Allied governments and in order to coincide with the attack on the Somme, the Russians launched a massive offensive into western Ukraine which resulted in a number of German divisions being moved from west to the east to counter the offensive.
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By mid-1917 over two million Russian soldiers were dead, five million wounded and two and a half million taken prisoner. Russia owed Britain over £600 million and France £160 million in war loans. During the war Russia had become completely dependent on loans and supplies from the Allies to continue its war against the Central Powers. By the beginning of 1917, Russian factories could not operate due to a lack of manpower, there were widespread food shortages and the cost of living was exorbitant. These factors along with the massive casualties on the Eastern Front all contributed to a lack of support among the peasant and working classes for the Tsarist government. The climate of unrest led to many political factions gaining increasing support and becoming much more active and vocal.


On 11 March 1917, while the Tsar was visiting troops at the front, a revolution broke out in St Petersburg and a Provisional Government was installed. The Tsar abdicated from power and was placed under house arrest. The Provisional Government under Alexander Kerensky was committed to maintaining hostilities with the Central Powers, but by mid-1917 the Russian Army was in a demoralised state with troops abandoning the front en masse to return to their homes. A group of radical revolutionaries known as ‘Bolsheviks’ saw their opportunity in the political and social upheaval, launching a second coup on 7 November which removed Kerensky’s government from power to be replaced by their ruthless leader Vladimir Lenin, who immediately proclaimed that Russia would cease all hostilities and withdraw from the war, repudiating all foreign debts, which was considered a gross betrayal by the Allies.


The Central Powers supported the Bolshevik coup, as closure of the Eastern Front had made available 80 German and Austro-Hungarian divisions that had occupied the front line with Russia, 35 of which were sent to France to form the crux of the spring 1918 offensive on the Western Front. Conversely for the Allies, the Russian government in power was incidental as long as hostilities were resumed on the Eastern Front. With the Allies so hard-pressed on the Western Front, it was critical to Allied interests that a government be installed in Russia which would not only resume hostilities but would also commit to repay the massive war debts incurred by the Tsarist regime.


On 22 December 1917, German and Bolshevik representatives met at Brest-Litovsk in the first stages of peace talks between the two nations, and Lenin agreed to the terms on 3 March 1918. For the Bolsheviks the terms of the Brest-Litovsk treaty were extremely harsh. They agreed to secede to Germany, Poland, Lithuania, Courland, Riga and part of Byelorussia, the former having a high population of Baltic Germans. In the Caucasus, Kars, Batum and Ardahan were relinquished to Germany’s ally Ottoman Turkey. The Bolsheviks also had to endorse the independence of the German-protected government of the Ukraine. The land surrendered at Brest-Litovsk accounted for 27 per cent of the agricultural area of Russia, 26 per cent of the population (46 million people), 26 per cent of the railways and 75 per cent of the country’s iron and steel. As a final indignity the Bolsheviks were made to pay three billion rubles as compensation for waging war on Germany.


With such harsh conditions it is at first difficult to understand why Lenin would accept such terms, but is understandable when viewed with the knowledge that he was solely concerned with the survival of Bolshevism in Russia, and not the outcome of the war. Considering what the Bolsheviks were willing to sacrifice at Brest-Litovsk, it is unsurprising that the Allies considered the signing of the treaty a treacherous act.


To the Allies, Russia appeared to be on the verge of disintegration. The Russian Empire was collapsing as states and territories declared independence; the Germans were free to occupy large parts of Poland and Ukraine, and were still menacing Petrograd and Moscow. There was the possibility of German forces pushing east from Finland and capturing the year-round ice-free port of Murmansk, and using it as a submarine base to menace Allied shipping in the Atlantic. The country rapidly split into pro-Tsarist ‘White Russian’ factions which were slowly building strength to wage war against the pro-revolutionary Bolshevik ‘Red Army’. The Bolsheviks were not the strongest party in Russia, as they were divided on strategy and how best to secure power. There were also other parties who wanted to oust the Bolsheviks and impose their own leadership on the nation. Hunger and unrest among the people and mutiny in the Russian forces was also prevalent. In the summer of 1918 the Allies decided to intervene.


The first Allied troops to set foot in Russia as part of British military intervention in the Russian Civil War were a handful of Royal Marines disembarked at Murmansk harbour in March 1918. Their task was to protect the port from any German incursion from Finland, and also prevent seizure by the Bolsheviks of the tons of war stores donated by the British and French governments to Imperial Russia, which had been stockpiling on the docks since the November 1917 revolution. The Marines fought a series of engagements against German-allied ‘White Finns’ during May and awaited arrival of two new force missions in June 1918. The North Russia Expeditionary Force (NREF) was divided into two forces. Codename Syren Force was bound for Murmansk, while Elope Force was to land at Archangel.


Major General Charles Maynard, who would command Syren Force, later wrote in his memoirs of the campaign the rationale for Allied intervention in the summer of 1918:




(a) Many more German divisions would have been withdrawn from Russia and employed against the Allies in France – possibly with decisive results.


(b) Germany, being free to draw on the immense resources of Russia and Siberia, would have been enabled to establish her national industries once again on a prosperous footing, and to supply the pressing needs of her civil population. The effect of our maritime blockade would thus be annulled.


(c) North Russian ports would have been converted into enemy naval bases, submarines operating from which would have circumvented our North Sea minefields and found our Atlantic commerce open to their attack. This, too, when the safe transport to Europe of America’s armies was all-important.


(d) The chance would be lost of employing to any useful purpose either the army of Japan or the equivalent of several divisions of Czecho-Slovak troops of high fighting value, and full of enthusiasm for our cause.


(e) The anti-German movement at that time beginning to gain a hold in Russia would, if unsupported by the Allies, be quite unlikely to achieve any tangible result.1





The primary objective of Allied intervention in the Russian Civil War was (until the Armistice at least) to reopen the Eastern Front against the Central Powers. Resuming hostilities on the Eastern Front would take pressure off hard-pressed Allied forces striving to fend off fresh German reinforcements sent from Russia. With German troops virtually in sight of Paris, the Allies were less concerned with who was ruling Russia as long as they would recommence hostilities on the Eastern Front. Some senior British generals were pressing the government of Prime Minister Lloyd George to remove the Bolsheviks and reinstate the Tsar who would continue the war against the Central Powers. These officers received hearty support for expanded military intervention when Winston Churchill, a vehement anti-Bolshevik, became Secretary of State for War on 10 January 1919. However, the Tsar would be brutally murdered with his wife and five children by the Bolsheviks in July 1918, so there could be no return to the old order.


At a War Office meeting on 16 May 1918 attended by representatives from the Empire armies there was extensive discussion of the composition of the forces which might be deployed to North Russia. In response, Australian, Canadian, South African and New Zealand authorities put out a call among their forces for experienced volunteers of the rank of sergeant and above for ‘special service with the Imperial Army overseas’. Most of the volunteers were in England recovering from wounds, detached from their parent units on the Western Front. Sergeant John Kelly AIF wrote of his motivation for volunteering, ‘My own personal thoughts were that it would have to be pretty rough to come up to anything that one was likely to meet in France.’2


Volunteers would not be informed of their destination nor of the duties required of them there until on board ship underway. Eventually 16 Canadians, nine Australians, four New Zealanders and three South Africans as well as a number of British volunteers were selected for the mission, an order having been given that once selected it would not be possible to withdraw.


Command of the new force, designated ‘North Russia Expeditionary Force’, was given to Major General Frederick Cuthbert Poole, and leadership of its two component missions (Syren and Elope) given to Major General Charles Maynard and Brigadier RG Finlayson respectively. Volunteers for Elope Force were isolated in the Tower of London, where the authorities thought they would attract the least amount of attention, while Syren were confined to barracks in a camp near Colchester. A third force codenamed Develop was planned to link up from Archangel with the Czech Legion in Siberia but did not progress beyond initial planning stages.


For Sergeant John Kelly, being one of the few Anzacs ever to be billeted in the Tower of London was a curious experience:


Some consternation was caused the old Beef Easters who are custodians of the Tower to find Australians flitting about the sacred inner precincts of the Tower at night. It was not long however before they found out our mission and that we were not there for any ulterior motive such as the theft of the Crown jewels, but were there on the perfectly legitimate business of soldiering on behalf of His Majesty.3


Some of the volunteers began to get ‘cabin fever’ and jumped the walls of the Tower in the middle of the night to stroll around the deserted streets.
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Some original members of Elope Force, 1918. Back row left to right (all sergeants) Bertram Perry MM, AIF, Robert McCready NZEF (born NSW), Wright and Jones (British). Seated left to right Arthur von Duve MM, AIF, Torbett MM (British), Bain & Felwell DCM MM (Canada), John Kelly AIF. Front row left to right Charles Hickey AIF, Winning (British) (AWM P00454.002).


While awaiting orders to embark, the rumour mill ran wild with potential destinations, everywhere from the Dardanelles to Siberia. The issuing of both summer and winter kit did little to dispel any of the rumours. There was no training and no briefings. When the volunteers were instructed to have a stamped envelope ready to notify their next of kin of their address, they expected that they would finally learn their destination, but instead they were told that their return address would be ‘c/o Elope, GPO London’. It was not until embarkation on board SS City of Marseilles on the evening of 17 June that the rumours were put to rest and the volunteers informed of their true destination, North Russia. There was no way that the men could have known that within two months they would be fighting an undeclared war with the Bolsheviks, particularly as the perceived enemy was still Germany and the Central Powers.


The United States (US) government agreed to participate in military intervention in Russia but not in the restoration of the Imperial Government nor ‘any interference with the political liberty of the Russian people’.4 The US remained a reluctant participant in military intervention in Russia and was never comfortable about the use of its troops in active participation in the civil war.


The War Council decided that the Allied force sent to North Russia should consist of between six and eight battalions, most of which would be British, the entire force being placed under British military command. The United States committed three battalions and three companies of engineers dubbed American North Russia Expeditionary Force (ANREF); the French and Italians would send one battalion each; and the Serbs agreed to send a company of troops from Odessa to Murmansk.


Strangely, the US Army officer commanding the ANREF was an Australian. George Evans Stewart was born in Kiama, New South Wales in August 1872 and emigrated with his family to the United States in 1890, aged 17. He hoped to become an architect but instead joined the US Army and quickly rose through the ranks and was commissioned. He served in the Philippines in 1899–1902 during the Spanish-American War where he was awarded the Medal of Honor, the highest United States military award for bravery and equivalent to the Victoria Cross.


In summer 1918, George was appointed to command the 4500 strong ANREF which arrived at Archangel on 4 September. He was under orders from President Woodrow Wilson that US troops were to be used only for guarding stores and giving assistance to the White Russians in organising their self-defence. Although George remained in command of the ANREF, the force fell under higher command of the British and no sooner had the ‘Yanks’ disembarked at Archangel, the force was sent to the frontlines and saw fierce fighting side by side with British and Canadian troops.


After suffering heavy casualties, the US troops, mostly men from Detroit, Michigan, many of whom had Slavic ancestry (some had even been born in Russia), were recalled by Washington in July 1919. George retired in the rank of Colonel and died in Portland, Texas in 1946 aged 73. As a recipient of the Medal of Honor, he is buried in Arlington National Cemetery, Virginia.


Disaster struck City of Marseilles en route to Murmansk: 22 of the Indian stokers were struck down with Spanish influenza and died. The remaining stokers were too ill to perform their duties and volunteers were called for from among the soldiers on board who, not wanting to remain a sitting duck for German submarines any longer than was absolutely necessary, were eagerly forthcoming. The City of Marseilles encountered rough seas during the journey, many of the passengers becoming stricken with seasickness.


Despite this, nearly all the soldiers of Elope and Syren missions had seen extensive service on the Western Front and considered the expedition to be something of a holiday. They were given small Russian phrasebooks to learn by heart and attended lectures led by a Russian officer. The men were generally optimistic about the operation and happy to be out of the trenches.


The NREF, including the nine AIF volunteers, arrived in Murmansk Harbour on 22 June 1918. General Maynard and Syren Force disembarked and soon after entrained to establish the situation further south along the railway where reports had been received of Red Guards heading north. Elope Force and the Anzac volunteers would not stay in the northern port long, however, as plans were already underway for the first direct confrontation between the Allies and Bolsheviks.


Relations with the local Bolsheviks (who remained officially neutral since the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk) had steadily deteriorated since the landing of Royal Marines at Murmansk in March and arrival of Elope and Syren at Murmansk in June. By late July the German government was putting excessive pressure on Lenin under threat of invasion to maintain Russia’s neutrality by ejecting the Allies from Murmansk. The Allies decided to strike first and late in the night of 30 July 1918, the cruiser HMS Attentive led a small flotilla of British, US and French warships from Murmansk with Elope Force volunteers on board, as well as a battalion of French Colonial Infantry and a handful of Polish troops, to attack and capture the White Sea port city of Arkhangelsk/Archangel (Арха́нгельск).


The plan was for army and naval landing parties to storm ashore under covering fire of HMS Attentive’s 4-inch guns supported by Royal Air Force (RAF) seaplanes from HMS Nairana flying overhead. The operation would be the first time in history that the three British services combined in a single amphibious operation. The combined landing force numbered only 700 British sailors, marines and soldiers of Elope Force and a further 800 Allied troops. The attack and occupation of Archangel would be the first overtly offensive action by the Allies against the Bolsheviks and marked the commencement of offensive British military intervention in the Russian Civil War.


In advance of the invasion of Archangel, NREF Chief Intelligence Officer Lieutenant-Colonel CJM Thornhill DSO, Indian Army, led a bold assault on the White Sea town of Onega, an important overland link between Murmansk and Archangel. Having assembled a small force of Elope Force volunteers, White Russians who had enlisted in the Slavo-British Legion at Murmansk and Serbs, Thornhill set out to capture the town and push south to capture the important railway siding at Obozerskaya.


In order to cut the Archangel-Vologda railway at that railway siding, Thornhill, who spoke fluent Russian, left Kem with a force of 89 officers and other ranks: 47 Serbs; six Tsarist officers now serving in the Slavo-British Legion, two peasants and a number of British officers and NCOs. The party sailed on the Michael Archangel which they disguised by hoisting the communist red flag. Upon reaching Onega they found that venue in Bolshevik hands. Thornhill, disguised as a Russian soldier, conversed with the three or four Bolshevik guards, and then stood back and dropped his disguise. Some of his men then came on deck and within a few minutes the force was able to land while a small number of guards escaped to raise the alarm. Street fighting then broke out, but by late morning the resistance was overcome. Although the casualties on both sides were slight – Thornhill lost one killed and one wounded, while the enemy lost one killed and two wounded – 60 prisoners were taken, three machine guns, 300 rifles and a large amount of ammunition.


After the capture of the town, 17 Poles were released from prison where they were awaiting execution and joined the expedition. As the party pressed on ten more Poles joined. The force then fought their way out of an ambush, later clashed with 350 Bolsheviks during a six-hour battle, and, finally, its scouts learnt that some 2000 Bolsheviks with field artillery had deployed across their route.


Although Thornhill knew that he now had no chance to cut the railway line, he had succeeded in diverting a major force of enemy from the defence of Archangel, and, after burning bridges, returned to Kem on the ship Kolo. Among the Elope Force volunteers who took part in the raid was New Zealand Expeditionary Force (NZEF) Sergeant Allan Burke, decorated with the Military Medal (MM) for bravery during the operation. Burke had been born in Bordertown, South Australia and was working for New Zealand Railways when war broke out, promptly enlisting in the Otago Regiment. He would remain in Russia for more than a year, eventually rising to captain and being further decorated with a military Member of the Order of the British Empire (MBE) for command of White Russian troops.


***


On the morning of 1 August 1918, the Allied flotilla steamed down the channel towards Archangel harbour. They were spotted by a battery of large calibre guns ashore on Modyugski Island guarding the narrow passage to Archangel. Standing on HMS Attentive’s bridge, Captain Edward Altham, RN saw the Red guns open fire:


For the most part the batteries shooting was wild; but one 6-inch gun was evidently in expert hands. One shot shimmered over the forecastle, the next whistled over our heads on the bridge, and the next plunged into the base of the foremost of our four funnels and burst there, putting two boilers out of action and doing other damage.5


Ten minutes of counterfire by the Allied fleet and aerial bombing from a flight of seaplanes from HMS Nairana forced the Bolsheviks from their guns. The landing troops stormed ashore and cleared the island of opposition; the only casualties suffered by the Allies had been two French sailors wounded. The fleet continued up the channel with one of the seaplanes spotting for the ships’ guns. With ample warning of the advancing Allied fleet, Bolshevik leadership in Archangel ordered two icebreakers scuttled in an attempt to block passage further up the channel, and evacuated the city.


The Red Army strength in Archangel actually outnumbered the Allied force, but the flypast of Nairana’s seaplanes was enough to convince them that the Allies were landing en masse and after mounting only token resistance the garrison fled the city. Earlier the same morning, a coup which had been fermented by Russo–British agent Grigory Chaplin was launched to coincide with the Allied attack and was completely successful. The Bolsheviks had been removed from power in Archangel.


Australian Elope volunteer Sergeant John Kelly disembarked at Archangel Quay in his distinctive slouch hat armed with a Lewis gun, accompanied by a party of Royal Marines from HMS Attentive, and got quite a surprise when he stepped ashore:


I had barely hit the wharf when a voice from the crowd called, ‘Hullo [sic] Aussie.’ I stopped dead in my tracks. This was unbelievable. I sorted out the individual and questioned him as to how he came to recognise an Australian. The answer was simple. He was a Russian seaman who in his travels had picked up a little English. His ship had traded a lot in the Mediterranean and he had seen a number of diggers in Alexandria.6


One British sailor described Archangel:


All along the front are huge buildings, mostly churches, with enormous domes and very imposing architecture. They are well spaced, and mostly white stone, sometimes with reddish coloured roofs. Some of the less important buildings are all red. Two of the churches are especially remarkable. One has a long thin golden spire about 100ft long, and also some minor spires. The other has a great dome, and some lesser ones in front. It would look very striking indeed, but for the rust and dirt that has accumulated on it for some time past, which give it a very neglected appearance. Everywhere one can see the lovely green stuff, trees, shrubs etc. that is so plentiful round here. The British ships … are anchored in the river which is about a mile or a little over a mile wide, opposite Archangel. Also American and French ships are here. The town looks to be a large one, say 40,000 Russian population but with the Allied soldiers etc., it must be considerably greater … There is very little on the south side of the river, and what there is, has mostly been built by the Allies.7


The local US Consul was critical of the British-led Allied invasion of Archangel and wrote prophetically:


Intervention will begin on a small scale, but with each step forward will grow in scope and its demands for ships, men, money and materials. Intervention in the north of Russia will mean that we must feed the entire north of Russia containing some 500,000 to 1,500,000 population. Intervention cannot reckon on active support from Russians. All the fight is out of Russia. Intervention will alienate thousands of anti-German Bolsheviks. Every foreign invasion that has gone deep into Russia has been swallowed up. If we intervene, going farther into Russia as we succeed, we shall be swallowed up. I cannot see that the fundamental situation in Russia is changed even if it were proven that Lenin, Trotsky, Sverdlov, etc., drew monthly pay checks from the Berlin Treasury.8


As the Red Army fled south down the Archangel-Vologda Railway and Dvina River, the Allied force pursued them supported by armoured trains on the railway and a Royal Navy flotilla of gunboats and monitors on the Dvina. The advance was halted in October 1918, as the Dvina began to freeze over and the flotilla had to be withdrawn to winter in Archangel, leaving the British troops at the front to survive the severe winter without critical mobile naval gun support.


Australian Elope Force Sergeant John Kelly described the nature of warfare in North Russia:


The area under our control was roughly 50,000 square miles in extent, but fully 90% of it required no defence at all owing to the peculiar natural features of the country which consisted of pine and fir tree forests so densely timbered that it was utterly impossible for anyone to establish communication of any kind through them; there was also the additional barrier in the winter months of many feet of snow and in the summer months the melting of this snow transformed the ground surface into a squelching bog. Through these forests ran several rivers and streams, the railway and a few isolated tracks leading to a lonely village here and there. To defend the area it was therefore only necessary to plug up these road, river and rail heads. Our defences somewhat resembled a huge fan, with Archangel as the hub, and a force operating at the end of each of the ribs. These posts might be anything up to 250 miles from the Base according to the district in which they were situated. Being completely isolated from other posts, each Command acted independently, fighting its own battles and acting entirely on its own initiative. The result was that instead of a continuous front line such as we knew in Gallipoli and France, there were several Fronts known as the ‘Railway Front’, ‘Dvina River Front’, ‘Kotlas Front’ and so on. Fighting was conducted principally from blockhouses under Indian or guerrilla warfare conditions.9


Interactions with locals were mostly limited to bartering for goods and food. In particular demand were sable and fox furs, which fetched enormous prices in England. One entrepreneurial soldier of the North Russia Relief Force brought back to England a silver fox pelt which he had purchased for less than 5 pounds and sold on to a London dealer for 300 guineas.10 Many of the soldiers spoke some French as a result of years on the Western Front but Russian was a different challenge entirely, although it did not take the average soldier long to learn the most useful words: skolka – how much? Dobra – good, niet dobra – not good, kharasho – alright. The scarcity of consumables in North Russia put the British Tommy at a significant bargaining advantage:


Many men exchanged a packet of cigarettes for a large loaf of bread or a pound of fresh butter. In this country money has very little purchasing value, but one can get anything for a few cigarettes or some tobacco or chocolate. In fact cigarettes are carried by the men instead of roubles.11


***


In early September 1918, an RAF Elope Squadron was formed specifically for service at Archangel. South African Lieutenant Colonel Kenneth van der Spuy (who would be captured and held as a POW in Moscow until 1920), who had been South Africa’s first qualified military pilot, was given command of the new unit, likely because of his previous experience in command of air expeditions in remote areas during the campaigns in East Africa.


Van der Spuy was given a freehand in selecting personnel for the squadron including Australians who were serving in the RAF:


Among the officers selected by me were three South Africans, three Australians, two Canadians and a few men who had experience in the colonies and dominions. I included these because in my experience I had found that such men were well fitted to adapt themselves to strange and severe conditions. I was fortunate, on arrival in Archangel, to find a few more Colonials who, with the experience they had gained there, proved a great asset. I was fortunate, too, in obtaining the services of two officers who had been with Scott on his ill-fated expedition to the South Pole.12


The author has been able to identify two of the Australian RAF officers selected by van der Spuy although the third remains a mystery. Alfred David Carey from Adelaide served with the AIF before transferring for flight training with Royal Naval Air Service (RNAS) in 1916, and flew seaplanes in the eastern Mediterranean from HMS Ark Royal before volunteering for Elope Squadron. He was made Officer of the Order of the British Empire (OBE) as well as awarded two Imperial Russian Orders of St Anne and St Stanislaus for his services in North Russia.
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Lieutenant Alfred Carey, RAF late AIF in North Russia (Naval Air Museum, Nowra, NSW).


Stanley James Gardiner was a grazier from Casterton, Victoria. Like Carey, he was discharged from the AIF in England and was commissioned into the Royal Flying Corps (RFC) in 1917. He volunteered for Elope Squadron the following year and was awarded an MBE and Imperial Russian Order of St Anne for his services in North Russia.


Other Australian airmen also served in North Russia although not with Elope Squadron. Vernon Waghorn Lamb from Albert Park, Victoria served with the Australian Naval and Military Expeditionary Force (AN&MEF), a small force tasked with capturing German territory in New Guinea, before enlisting in the AIF in 1916. Lamb sailed for England early in 1917 and was discharged to a commission as a Probationary Flight Officer in the RNAS for pilot training in November of the same year. During summer 1919, he served with the RAF Dvina River seaplanes flight, which flew from the anchorage on the sandbar at the village of Troitsa on the Dvina, and saw extensive service in support of the North Russia Relief Force.


Norman Stewart-Dawson grew up in England and in 1912 travelled to Sydney to work in the family watchmaking and jewellery business after completing his education at Heidelberg University, Germany. On the outbreak of war he immediately returned to England to volunteer and was commissioned into 5th Hussars in September 1914, but resigned his commission to begin training as a probationary flight sub lieutenant, RNAS. Granted a pilot’s licence in September 1915, he was sent to Mombasa where an arduous campaign was underway for control of British and German territories in East Africa. For bravery when his aircraft was forced down in the bush in May 1916, Norman was awarded a Distinguished Service Cross (DSC).13 In spring 1919, Norman was posted to seaplane carrier HMS Nairana at Murmansk and was posted to command ‘Duck Flight’ seaplanes at Medvyeja-Gora on Lake Onega, services for which he was awarded the Distinguished Service Order (DSO) and Imperial Russian Orders of St Vladimir and St Stanislaus.


***


On the day the Armistice was signed which ended the First World War, 11 November 1918, British, Canadian and US troops fought one of the largest battles of the Allied military intervention in Russia during the defence of the village of Tulgas on the Dvina River. Red troops attacked the village through the forest wearing white smocks as camouflage against the snow. The attackers nearly overran the Canadian gun positions, the gunners firing over open sights before a bayonet charge by 2/10th Royal Scots, the stalwarts of the Russian campaign, drove the Reds off.


One of them, Private John Stewart, wrote of the Armistice Day battle:


It was on the 11th day of November [1918], in the early hours of the morning, we were suddenly alerted by a terrific bombardment of rifle and machine gun fire. We were surrounded on all sides. Hastily dashing out with rifle and hand grenades, we threw ourselves on the frozen ground firing as fast as we could. Many by this time were killed or wounded. Our two officers, Lieutenant Hastings and Captain Shafto, standing with pistols in one hand and directing operations with the other, led charmed lives. How they were not killed was a miracle. Then all at once things began to happen. The Canadian artillery appeared on the scene and directed a goodly supply of shrapnel at the advancing Bolshies, killing and wounding many until they retreated back into the forest. But they had not given up the fight. They continued machine gun fire from the cover of the forest and it was at that point I received my own souvenir, a bullet in the lower part of my chest. It was now getting dark and one of my comrades, noticing me lying on the ground, came forward and cut my field dressing from the inside of my tunic. He was in the act of applying it to my wound when a sniper’s bullet got him in the head and he lay dead beside me. I don’t know how long I lay there. I was gradually freezing to death. I knew I must try to get away. It was now dark and I saw a light in the not too far distance, like a door opening and shutting, so gathering my remaining strength, I staggered towards it and was overjoyed to find it was an American casualty clearing station. What a mess it presented inside, dead and wounded side by side. My own wound was soon attended to, sterilised and bandaged. Given a dixie of hot bully stew and a good tot of rum I soon revived.14


Fifteen Royal Scots, two Canadian gunners and three US troops were killed during the defence. The survivors did not learn of the signing of the Armistice until the following day. When news reached Archangel, General Edmund Ironside (who had taken command of Allied forces at Archangel the previous month) described the city as:


Like a hive of bees. Everywhere there was an underlying hope that, even at this late hour, something might happen to save us from our winter campaign … And then on the very afternoon of Armistice Day, there arrived the news of heavy fighting on the Dvina. All the vain hopes of a peaceful evacuation or a quiet winter campaign, which so many people had cherished, disappeared in a flash.15


News of the Armistice reached the front on 12 November, but it remained unclear to the soldiers, sailors and airmen exactly how the cessation of hostilities on the Western Front would affect them in Russia. Most servicemen in Russia were ‘Hostilities Only’: those who had either volunteered or been conscripted for the duration of the war. Now that the war with the Central Powers was over and no war had been declared by the British Government on Bolshevik Russia, many expected they would soon be recalled home. One RAF officer recorded:


Captain Albu, our Flight Commander, has just called us together. He said I have some good news for you and also some which is not so good. First, an Armistice has been signed and the war is over. This took place at eleven a.m. yesterday. Now, he said, as far as he knew this would not affect the North Russian expedition and until further word was received we were to carry on according to orders. This second announcement did not surprise us much as we had discussed this probability quite often previously and were not too surprised.16


During the period from the invasion of Archangel to the Armistice the nine AIF and four NZEF volunteers were kept busy training Provisional Government troops of the White Russian Northern Rifle Regiments, who were being equipped by the British to join the fight against the Reds. Language and cultural differences made the task of training the Russian conscripts quite challenging. A South African Lewis gun instructor wrote of his joy and frustration instructing White Russian troops:


Training the soldiers was delightful since they were so gentle and straightforward, and at the same time maddening because they were forgetful and lazy. Their interest was intense for a short time, and then quite suddenly they would say to themselves, ‘I know it all now,’ and nothing but firm driving or bitter experience at the front would make them learn more.17


And also his consternation dealing with the Russian concept of time and general lack of urgency:


When I had reported to him [a White Russian general], he sent for coffee and launched into a lengthy conversation in French. After several unsuccessful attempts to get away, I finally excused myself and said I would report to the senior instructor. ‘Work is not a bear,’ he replied, and when I looked puzzled, explained, ‘It won’t run away into the woods. It will still be here tomorrow.’18


Another British instructor wrote of his difficulty issuing orders to White Russian soldiers who did not place the same importance on timings:


It is almost impossible to realise the elasticity of Russian ideas with regard to time. Any British officer or NCO, duly furnished with a watch, and ordered to despatch a patrol at a given hour, is more than likely to carry out the order. Not so the Russian. To him four o’clock and five o’clock mean much the same thing. ‘After all,’ he would say, ‘both are early in the morning.’19


The Elope Force instructors also had to contend with the constant threat of Bolshevik sympathisers both within the ranks of the White Russian forces they were training and among the civilian population. The threat was not hyperbolic, 2nd Lieutenant Richard Plumpton, Yorkshire Regiment was murdered at Murmansk on Christmas Day, 1918 by White Russian troops, his body dumped in a ravine stripped of valuables. An immediate search of a nearby barracks revealed a White Russian soldier in possession of the dead officer’s watch and other items. Sergeant John Kelly AIF recalled his own encounter with Russians with ill-intent:


When out of the line in France for rest periods or other duties you moved around quite freely without fear of attack as you were amongst friendly people. In Russia there were Bolshevik sympathisers everywhere … The danger of a knife in the back or a knock on the head was ever present. So seriously did G.H.Q. regard the situation it issued an Army Order to all British personnel to keep a Mill’s grenade in their pocket at all times when not carrying the usual arms such as rifle and bayonet or pistol. It seemed to me much like carrying a tiger snake in your pocket to ward off possible attack by a taipan. If the Bolshevik missed you, the blast from the Mills would not. I was soon to learn from personal experience that the plan was not as silly as it sounded … I found myself cornered and threatened by a number of hostile Russian sailors. I whipped out my Mills, pulled out the pin and told them in my limited Russian, plus some plain English that if I want I would take some of them along with me for company. It worked. Fortunately this was the only situation in which I had to resort to this bluff. During my 4 years overseas I collected only two souvenirs. One was the jagged piece of shrapnel dug out of my back at Calais and which put me in hospital in Blighty for 3 months … The other was that little Mills grenade which undoubtedly saved my life.20


The objective of the first landing of British troops in North Russia had been to protect the year round ice-free port of Murmansk from German troops in Finland; to protect Allied-donated war stores from seizure by the Bolsheviks; and, to support White Russian forces to re-establish a government which would reopen hostilities against the Central Powers on the Eastern Front. With the signing of the Armistice these objectives were no longer relevant and the troops in North Russia reasonably began asking when they would be withdrawn home.


As poorly equipped as the NREF was in other areas, the ‘Shackleton’ cold weather kit designed by the famed Polar explorer Sir Ernest Shackleton (then serving as a Special List Major in the army, officially appointed Staff Officer, Arctic equipment, NREF), and issued to the troops for the winter with its distinctive gloves and goggles, proved to be more than adequate apart from the much lamented ‘Shackleton boot’, which proved less practical. The canvas over-shoe was designed to be worn over standard issue army boots primarily for use with skis or snowshoes, but had little grip on the soles and was very slippery on ice.
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Sergeant Bertram Perry MM, AIF and Elope Force, photographed at Archangel in January 1919. Note the AIF badge worn on the fur hat (AWM AO5184).


The cold was extreme. It was unsafe to venture outside unless only on a short trip from one blockhouse to another. The fighting became largely static, similar to the Western Front, but whereas in France and Flanders men could not advance due to massed machine guns and artillery, in North Russia movement was restricted due to the extreme climatic conditions. Sergeant John Kelly AIF recorded his own experiences in the freezing climate, probably the most extreme the AIF experienced:


Twice the thermometer fell to 70 below [–21°C]. In these conditions everything stops. No one ventured out of doors unless he or she had suicidal tendencies. To step outside in such weather would have the effect of aiming a blow torch down the throat – the lungs cannot cope with such extreme conditions and virtually explode … Great care had to be taken at all times when in the open not to touch metal objects with bare hands. Such an act would leave the skin and flesh adhering to the metal; the result would be more horrifying than if you grasped a piece of white hot metal.


On a few occasions when temperatures got a little on the low side I experienced the very distressing sensation of suffocating. The exceptionally rarefied air at these times did not suit me at all and I would have to make for the nearest cabin or other cover. There were times I felt I would never make it as it would be fatal to try and hurry in such circumstances, this would merely aggravate the trouble. As it was I was usually giving a good imitation of a codfish just landed on the river bank …


We had no complaint with the British Government on one score, that of our winter clothing and equipment. They certainly spared nothing in this regard. When one was suitably clothed as we were these extreme arctic conditions did not present any great hazards except for one most serious danger, that of frost bite. Our hands were fully protected by wearing ordinary fur-lined leather gloves and keeping them inserted in the large oversize gloves strung around the neck which allowed the use of your hands by quickly slipping them in and out for brief periods.


Our feet were protected firstly by putting on 2 or 3 pairs of woollen socks, next lumberman’s woollen stockings which extended the full length of the leg to the top of the thighs, next you put on a pair of ordinary fur lined boots and then the whole build-up went inside the oversized Shackleton boots … All this left us well protected from any risk of frost bite and cold except for two very vulnerable points – the nose and upper cheeks. Being well aware of this you took every precaution to protect yourself ... I escaped unscathed fortunately.21


In such extreme conditions, thick log blockhouses became crucial to holding the Allied line. Built in mutually defensible groups of three, each blockhouse was armed with a machine gun and seven riflemen, surrounded by barbed wire. A larger blockhouse equipped with two machine guns with arcs covering the three smaller blockhouses was built periodically along the line to provide defence in depth. Essential to each blockhouse was a large Russian wood stove kept constantly burning around which the occupants slept.
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A North Russia blockhouse on the Railway Front crewed by Australian volunteers from 201st MGC. Note the Australian flags draped over the front of the blockhouse and flying on a flagpole behind (Author’s collection).


The RAF ground crew had an especially hard time. The engines of the aircraft froze solid, despite being constantly heated by fires and lamps. Valves, joints and throttles all froze to the point where lubricants could no longer be used. The wire bracing holding the wings taut frequently snapped under the intense cold. Mechanics had to work while wearing heavy winter clothing and cumbersome gloves. To remove the gloves was inviting the loss of fingers to frostbite.


By mid-November the brutal sub-Arctic winter brought offensive operations by both sides to a standstill. The cold also had a dramatic effect on the range of artillery shells. The British 18-pounder had to be ranged to 3750 yards for the shells to have an effective range of only 2000 yards in the sub-zero temperatures and care had to be taken to avoid the buffer oil freezing over. Machine guns froze solid and artillery shell fuses did not detonate in the deep snow. An attempt was made to mix alcohol with the water-cooling system of the Vickers machine gun to prevent freezing, but when in the hands of Russian troops the spirits would often go missing.


Elope Force volunteer Sergeant Charles Hickey, 11th (WA) Battalion, a surveyor from Wongan Hills, who had lost an eye at Pozieres in 1916 but was still classed fit for service in Russia, had an unexpected loss in the snow:


On the night of December 19th, 1918 whilst returning to barracks per sleigh in the company of two other N.C.O.’s, I had occasion to remove my artificial eye and had the misfortune to drop it in the snow; we searched for it for some considerable time but it could not be found, was probably broken by the sleigh. I visited the 53rd General Hospital on three different occasions, endeavouring to have the eye replaced and was eventually informed that I could not be fitted in Russia, and would have to carry on as usual.22


Soldiers with experience of life in arctic conditions coped much better than the average British ‘Tommy’, especially the Canadian gunners who easily adapted to the extreme cold. A concerted effort was made to teach British troops to ski and in the use of snowshoes but the attempt largely failed. Men could not be spared from the front line to be trained in the arctic arts and it took too much time and required equipment that the Allies did not have to turn the average infantryman into a competent snow trooper. On more than a few occasions soldiers had to be sent home with broken legs and other injuries sustained while undergoing ski training before the scheme was abandoned. General Ironside at Archangel had considered the necessity for ski troops so great that he wrote, ‘Had we been opposed to bodies of good skiers of even one quarter our numbers we must have been turned out of the country. Mobility, when shown by either side, met with instant success.’23


The hours of daylight during sub-Arctic winter also caused some consternation for the British troops unused to the extremes of extended darkness in winter and daylight in summer. During November there was an average of eight hours daylight each day but by mid to late December it had fallen to four hours and the temperature well below zero.


Since the Dvina River had frozen over in October 1918, the majority of the NREF remained iced in 200 miles upriver from Archangel, mostly cut off from reinforcement and supply, and all the while at risk of being overrun by the increasingly well trained, equipped and motivated Red Army. The temperature would not rise above freezing until March and the Dvina would not thaw until several weeks later. Even if Whitehall had issued immediate orders to withdraw the NREF from Archangel, it simply would not have been possible to do so. As the Dvina froze over, so too did the White Sea, leaving Elope Force at Archangel cut off from Syren Force at Murmansk other than by the arduous and long overland route. The earliest an organised withdrawal of forces from Archangel could take place would be mid-May 1919.
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A veteran of the storm and a rainbow


In order to prevent the Red Army from interfering with the evacuation of Archangel and to give the White Russian Provisional Government time to prepare to go it alone, the War Office gave instructions for the raising of a force specifically for service in North Russia. The force would be tasked with delivering a series of aggressive attacks along all fronts, rendering the enemy unable to interfere with the evacuation. The only problem was that with the rapid demobilisation of ‘Hostilities Only’ enlistees and commitments elsewhere around the globe, the British Army had few troops to spare.


Without the possibility of diverting enough serving soldiers from existing units, on 9 April 1919 the first recruiting posters went up around London calling for volunteers for the North Russia Relief Force (NRRF), with newspaper advertisements published the following morning. The posters assured that ‘A discharged or demobilised soldier, if accepted, will rejoin in the rank, substantive or acting, he held at the time he left the colours. This may have been the original intent, but there were so many volunteers that many officers voluntarily relinquished commissions to join as Non-Commissioned Officers (NCOs), and many NCOs their ‘stripes’ to join as privates.
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Advertisement published in The Times on 10 April 1919 calling for volunteers for the North Russia Relief Force (Public domain).


Rates of pay and leave were also attractive. Soldiers on return from Russia would be granted one month paid furlough before discharge. An NRRF volunteer in the rank of private would receive 14 shillings per day including allowances, which in total was more than double the normal daily rate of pay, an extremely attractive remuneration for discharged soldiers for whom jobs in the depressed employment market flooded with thousands of returned soldiers was uncertain. After 1 September 1919, a further ‘Russia’ allowance of four shillings for officers and two shillings sixpence per day for other ranks was paid to British soldiers serving in Russia (a ‘Russia’ allowance of one shilling for NCOs and sixpence per day for other ranks had been payable since 1 February), making the NRRF volunteers the highest paid soldiers in the British Army at the time. Given that the average yearly wage for a factory worker in Australia at this time was about 200 pounds, the equivalent annual pay of 250 pounds for an NRRF volunteer (even more for NCO’s) – with food, accommodation and most amenities covered – was attractive indeed.


In order to enlist, volunteers completed ‘Army Form B250A Short Service’:


You will engage to serve His Majesty as a Soldier in the Regular Forces for one year provided your services are no longer required for the Special Service for which you have been enlisted, you will be discharged with all convenient speed.
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